IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1385

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 91-CF-1932

HARRY JONES,	
Appellant,	
v.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd.

Suite 118 - 61 Estero, Florida 33928 (850) 322-2172 Fax (954) 564-5412

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Jones' successive motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland* analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Jones' current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v.*McCollum and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understanding and apply *Strickland*.

¹Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. ² In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. ³

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987) ("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

²The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

³The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

Mr. Jones, whose ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase claim was heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Jones seeks to have his ineffectiveness claim reheard and reevaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted. Mr. Jones seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Mr. Jones seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Jones seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1991, Mr. Jones was indicted and charged with first-degree murder, robbery and grand theft (R. 1-2). Mr. Jones pleaded not guilty (R. 18-20).

Mr. Jones was tried by a jury in May, 1992. The jury was unable to reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared. Mr. Jones was tried again in November 1992 and the jury returned a guilty verdict on all counts (R. 786-90). After the penalty phase, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 10 - 2. Mr. Jones was sentenced to death on November 20, 1992 (R. 828-36).

This Court affirmed Mr. Jones' convictions and sentences on direct appeal. *Jones v. State*, 648 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1994). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. *Jones v. Florida*, 515 U.S. 1147 (1995).

In March, 1997, Mr. Jones filed an incomplete Rule 3.851 motion. Thereafter, Mr. Jones filed an amended Rule 3.851 motion on March 19, 2003. An evidentiary hearing was held on a few of Mr. Jones' claims in April, 2004.

After the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Jones filed a Supplemental Rule 3.851 motion. However, the circuit court did not address the motion and instead denied Mr. Jones' amended Rule 3.851 on September 23, 2005. Mr. Jones filed a timely notice of appeal. Simultaneously, Mr. Jones filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus.

⁴When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

On June 18, 2007, Mr. Jones filed an amended supplemental Rule 3.851 motion, raising newly discovered evidence of prosecution witness Prim's recantation. This Court denied Mr. Jones' motion to relinquish jurisdiction.

This Court denied all relief on December 23, 2008. Jones v. State, 998 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 2008).

Following the affirmance of the denial of his amended Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Jones sought to have the claims in his supplemental Rule 3.851 motions heard (2PC-R. 281-4).

On May 11, 2009, a *Huff* hearing was held (2PC-R. 366-91). At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court denied Mr. Jones' motions as untimely and in the alternative, on the merits (2PC-R. 388).

Mr. Jones appealed (2PC-R. 356-7). This Court denied relief in an order issued on October 15, 2010. *Jones v. State*, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC09-1560.

On February 10, 2009, Mr. Jones filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, Northern District of Florida. That petition is currently pending.

On November 23, 2010, Mr. Jones filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009) (PC-R3. 1-44). On January 24, 2011, the State responded (PC-R3. 47-118).

The circuit court held a case management conference on February 22, 2011. Thereafter, on June 10, 2011, the circuit court denied Mr. Jones' motion (PC-R3. 152-189).

Mr. Jones timely filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. THE TRIAL RECORD

In the Spring of 1991, Harry Jones worked at the Catfish Pad, as a cook (T. 247). And, during a six-week time period, Mr. Jones made just short of \$800.00 (T. 248). In the week prior to June 1st, Mr. Jones borrowed \$50.00 from his boss (T. 249), which was not unusual for employees to do (T. 250). Mr. Jones' boss recalled that the money was to assist Mr. Jones to purchase a car (T. 251). Ronnie Hollis recalled looking at a car with Mr. Jones (T. 758-9). And, a few days before the accident, Lucille Murray recalled Mr. Jones asking her if he could give her \$200.00 and the rest of the money later for a car she was selling (T. 769). Murray rejected Mr. Jones' offer but saw that he did have money with him that day (T. 768-9).

At this time, Mr. Jones lived with the Hollis family off of Jackson Bluff Road (T. 328). Mr. Jones paid Mrs. Hollis \$25.00 a week to stay at her home and often bought her cigarettes (T. 337).

In that same timeframe, George Young, Jr., worked for the city (T. 264). Mr. Young dated Jessie O'Connor (*Id.*). Ms. O'Connor testified that during the year she had dated Mr. Young, he rarely loaned his truck to anyone, or let others drive it and he always carried a lot of cash (T. 266-7). Likewise, Mr. Young's son, confirmed that his father would not have loaned his truck to "somebody like Mr. Jones" (T. 586). Though he would also not have expected his father to drink with someone like Mr. Jones, either (*Id.*).

On May 31, 1991, George Wilson Young, Jr., withdrew \$300.00 from the bank (T. 261). The bank teller recalled providing Mr. Young his money as ten \$20.00s and two \$50.00s (T. 262). That evening he and Ms. O'Connor went out to dinner. Mr. Young paid for everything, including gas to fill Ms. O'Connor's tank when they left the restaurant.

⁵Paul Williams testified in the defense case that Mr. Young had driven through a beer and wine store in the mid-70s and he would come through with others in the car, both black and white individuals (T. 735-6). Mr. Williams also recalled a time when Mr. Young loaned his car to a couple of college kids for an hour (T. 737).

On June 1, 1991, Mr. Jones and Timothy Hollis started drinking around noon (T. 328). Hollis recalled that Mr. Jones had borrowed \$10.00 from his mother to buy alcohol (T. 329). The two drank all day (T. 331-2).

Also, on June 1, 1991, Archie Hamilton and Fain Searcy worked at Market Street Liquors (T. 274, 295). At some point that day, Mr. Jones came to the store and bought a half a pint of gin (T. 296). Mr. Jones paid for the bottle with some small bills and coins (*Id*.). That evening, Mr. Jones, again, and his friend Timothy Hollis entered the store (T. 276). Hollis was very intoxicated and Mr. Jones helped him to the bathroom (T. 277). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Young, entered the store (*Id*.), at approximately 7:00 p.m. (T. 285). Mr. Jones came back to the counter, where Mr. Young spoke to Hamilton (*Id*.). Mr. Jones purchased another half pint of gin (T. 297). While Mr. Jones stood at the counter, Mr. Young paid for a half pint of gin with a \$10.00 bill (*Id*.). But, it appeared that Mr. Young had a few hundred dollars on him (T. 278).

Mr. Jones returned to the bathroom to check on Hollis. Mr. Young offered to assist Mr. Jones (T. 279-80). They assisted Hollis out of the store where he fell down (T. 281). At that point, Mr. Jones requested Mr. Young to drive him (Hollis) home (*Id.*).

Though Hamilton advised against it, Mr. Young agreed to help Mr. Jones (T. 281). After Hollis was in the truck, Mr. Young reentered the store and obtained a couple of cups of ice (T. 283). Hamilton believed that Mr. Young was in the store for fifteen minutes, or so (T. 286).

Mrs. Hollis testified that at some point that evening, she recalled Mr. Jones and a white man bring her son home in a red and white truck (T. 338). After they brought her son in the house, Mr. Jones left (T. 338).

Later, between 7:30 and 8:00 p.m., John Colson, who was working at the Suwanee Swifty saw Mr. Jones and Mr. Young (T. 347).

The two came in the store, bought a six pack of beer and left (T. 348).

Deputy David Frimmel believed that on the evening of the crash, after 7:00 p.m., he saw Mr. Young's truck on Meridian Road.

He recalled that the vehicle slowed down and pulled off to the middle of the road (T. 375-6). Deputy Frimmel passed the truck, but noticed that it appeared to back up and turn into a driveway that lead to a plantation (T. 376). When Deputy Frimmel looked inside the truck he saw only a black male (*Id.*).

At 8:10 p.m., Florida Highway Patrol Trooper Don Ross responded to an car accident on Meridian Road. Mr. Jones was lying on the road and several individuals were gathered around trying to assist him (T. 354). One of the individuals recalled that Mr. Jones was wearing dark blue jeans (T. 402). There was a conflict in the witnesses' recollections about whether or not Mr. Jones wore a shirt (T. 402, 415). Mr. Jones' pants looked wet (T. 403), however, the individuals who helped move Mr. Jones and touched his pants recalled that Mr. Jones' pants were dry with the exception of the blood on them (T. 411, 415). And, the paramedic who treated Mr. Jones testified that his pants were dry (T. 748).

It appeared that the truck was heading south when it ran off the road into a ditch and struck a tree (T. 360). When Trooper Ross examined the truck, there were 2 half pint gin bottles that appeared to be half empty, but no beer cans (T. 355, 362). Some Lotto tickets were also recovered from the truck (T. 463).

Mr. Jones was ultimately transported to the hospital (T. 358).

⁶Deputy Frimmel's report noted that his receipt from Publix indicated that he checked out at 7:14 p.m. (T. 380-1). Thereafter, he met a friend in the parking lot, so he did not leave the Publix until approximately 7:45 p.m. (T. 382). It then took Deputy Frimmel about fifteen to twenty minutes before he saw Mr. Young's truck on Meridian (T. 382).

The following day, detective Mike Wood went to the hospital to interview Mr. Jones (T. 512). Det. Wood asked Mr. Jones if he had obtained the truck Mr. Jones had been driving from a white man (T. 514). Mr. Jones indicated that he had not (*Id.*). Mr. Jones indicated that he had obtained the truck from a black man (*Id.*). Mr. Jones wrote that he had obtained the truck in Frenchtown from an unknown individual for \$20.00 (T. 515). Following the initial interview, Det. Wood seized Mr. Jones' clothes and belongings, which included a Lotto ticket and some money (T. 519).

In the next few days, Joe Schuster, a soil scientist, was asked to examine the soil from Mr. Jones' shoes and clothes to determine where the soil came from (T. 597). Mr. Schuster was able to scrape approximately three to five grams of soil from Mr. Jones shoes (T. 603). Mr. Schuster recommended that the search for Mr. Young be directed to the east part of Leon County (T. 598).

⁷On June 17, 1991, Mr. Jones denied killing Mr. Young to Deputy Michael Halligan (T. 570). Mr. Jones maintained that he obtained the truck in the Frenchtown area (*Id.*).

On June 6, 1991, Ruth Mills was fishing on Horseshoe Plantation, at Boat Pond (T. 425-6). While fishing, she noticed a body floating in the water (T. 427). The body was identified as that of Mr. Young (T. 521). The cause of death was drowning (T. 665).

Mr. Schuster examined the soil from the area and concluded it that it was similar to that he had examined from Mr. Jones' shoes (T. 599). Mr. Schuster also testified that the soil material near the place where Mr. Jones crashed the truck would have also had similar characteristics to that examined from Mr. Jones' shoes (T. 607).

Dr. Loran Anderson also testified that the pollens found in the minute samples of mud on Mr. Jones' jeans and shoes could have come from an environment like Boat Pond (T. 625). Though the types of pollen were also extremely common throughout Leon County (T. 630). And, there were no other identifying biological materials on Mr. Jones' clothes, though there were some in the samples obtained from Mr. Young (T. 635). Also, Mr. Jones clothes would have had to have been in contact with the bottom of the pond, i.e., they would have been wet (T. 640-1).

The next day, law enforcement went back to the plantation. There was an area where it looked like a car had spun around and sprayed some mud (T. 453). It also looked as if there was an area in the grass that had been disturbed (*Id.*). Little investigation was conducted as to the area, even though a crime scene technician took tire casts, photographs and measurements of the disturbed area.

During the investigation, law enforcement learned that Mr. Jones had previously fished at Horseshoe Plantation (T. 445). In addition, Det. Wood traveled from the liquor store to all of the stops Mr. Jones and Mr. Young made and believed it could be done between fifty-three and fifty-eight minutes, depending on the route traveled (T. 533). However, this estimate only considered the driving time, and not the time spent at any given stop (T. 556).

The Lotto tickets found in the truck and the ticket found with Mr. Jones' belongings at the hospital were purchased at the same time (T. 593).

⁸The pathologist could not say whether Mr. Young was conscious at the time of the drowning (T. 668-9).

The jury also heard that on September 9, 1991, Kevin Prim contacted Det. Wood about Mr. Jones' case (T. 533). Det. Wood told the jury about his contact with Prim:

Q: Did you make him any kind of promise or offer or inducement or tell him you were going to do anything special for him if he talked to you?

A: No, I did not.

Q: Did you take a tape recorded statement from him regarding what knowledge he had or information he had about the case?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: I understand that subsequent to your interview with him where he provided information to you, that he was released from the Leon County Jail. Did you make any kind of determination on why he was in jail or what his release status was?

A: The only information I had initially as far as his incarceration was that he faced a \$500 bond and he needed \$50 to make that bond.

Q: Did you give him \$50 for bond?

A: No sir, I did not. No, sir. I didn't determine immediately what his charge was, but based on the bond amount, at that time I assumed it wasn't a real serious charge. As it turns out, he was charged with primarily theft charges.

* * *

Q: What do you know about his release? You did not effect his release?

A: No, sir, I did not. I was actually contacted by Kevin and he indicated to me that after Mr. Jones had apparently had a session with some of his counsel at the time, he came back and they wound up in the same cell. They were in the same cell actually. And that Mr. Jones confronted him and there was a physical confrontation and he told Mr. Prim that he knew in fact (sic) talked to law enforcement. He had a physical confrontation. It was broken up. And I don't know — I can't give you verbatim, but my understanding was that Mr. Prim's counsel, who apparently was from the Public Defender's Office, filed some sort of a motion to obtain his release. I certainly didn't have anything to do with it.

* * *

Q: This confrontation that was reported to have occurred, do you know if that was the same day that the Public Defender became aware that Kevin Prim had talked to law enforcement?

A: I believe it was, yes, sir.

Q: That same day that there was a confrontation after Mr. Jones somehow became aware as well?

A: Right.

Q: Were there some subsequent charges made against Kevin Prim, if you know?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: What kind of charges were they?

A: The charges I'm familiar with are petit theft charges.

Q: What kind of things were involved with being stolen?

A: Food items taken.

Q: Food?

A: The ones I'm familiar with were food items taken.

A: No, sir, I did not. I did have conversation (sic) with one incident I remember particularly, I did have a conversation with his arresting officer. And my only reason for doing that was, first of all, Kevin called me and the only thing that I sought to find out from the arresting officer was the nature of his arrest. I never tried to interfere. Encouraged him to do exactly what he felt necessary to do. My only concern was knowing what he was going to be charged with because I was concerned that it may be some kind of violent crime or something of that nature.

Q: Did you ever try to get him out of jail on any of these charges or ask anybody not to arrest him?

(T. 533-7). When Prim was released from jail, Det. Wood was there to pick him up (T. 559).

Prim also stuck to the story that he had been released from the jail because of an altercation with Mr. Jones (T. 678). As to what Mr. Jones told Prim, Prim testified:

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