HARRY JONES,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-1385

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The California Supreme Court's decision on the merits of Richter's *Strickland* claim required more deference than it received. Richter was not entitled to the relief ordered by the Court of Appeals. The

judgment is reversed, and the case is remanded for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

Richter, 131 S.Ct. at 792.

Therefore, Jones' retroactivity discussion (IB 28 et seq.) is misplaced. Porter presents no new law to be retroactive. Further, arguendo, even if Porter were somehow some sort of new law, it "has [not] been held to apply retroactively," thereby making the 2010 Successive Motion still untimely under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Accordingly, this Court has held that, in the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel context, refinements or clarifications in Strickland jurisprudence are not See Johnston v. Moore, 789 So.2d 262, 266-267 retroactive. (Fla. 2001)(holding that Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033-34 (Fla. 1999), which clarified the standard to be used in reviewing ineffective assistance of counsel claims, was not retroactive under Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980)). However, of course, as the State has argued here, Porter did not even involve a clarification or refinement of the law; instead, it applied pre-existing law.

Here, in contrast with the facts in <u>Porter</u> and in contrast with the refusal of state courts in <u>Sears</u>, to conduct a prejudice analysis, this Court has "undertake[n]" <u>Strickland</u>-compliant prejudice analyses. Moreover, concerning the mental health expert sub-claim, this Court's prejudice analysis held that, on a procedural ground, Jones failed to meet his burden of demonstrating prejudice, Alternatively, this Court conducted the analysis of the prejudice prong that far exceeded even Jones' self-serving interpretation of Porter and Sears:

... Jones has failed to prove prejudice. He offers nothing more than the blanket assertion that '[h]ad the evidence been presented, the result of the penalty proceedings would have been different.' A mere conclusory allegation that the outcome would have been different is insufficient to state a claim of prejudice under *Strickland*; the defendant must demonstrate how, if counsel had acted otherwise, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome would have been different-that is, a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *See Holland v. State*, 916 So.2d 750, 758 (Fla. 2005) (defendant's claim that 'he was prejudiced because penalty phase counsel's deficiencies substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings is merely conclusory and must be rejected'); *Brown v. State*, 894 So.2d 137, 160 (Fla. 2004); *Armstrong v. State*, 862 So.2d 705, 712 (Fla.2003) (finding that a mere conclusory allegation of prejudice was legally insufficient).

Notwithstanding the insufficiency of the claim, we are confident that had the additional mitigation evidence been introduced, there is no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been differenti.e., our confidence in the outcome remains. 'Prejudice, in the context of penalty phase errors, is shown where, absent the errors, there is a reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and circumstances would been different mitigating have or the deficiencies substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings.' Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509, 516 n. 14 (Fla.1999). Here, the mental mitigation evidence presents a 'double-edged sword' and is not sufficient to overcome the substantial aggravation. See Reed v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 437 (Fla.2004) ('An ineffective assistance claim does not arise from the failure to present mitigation evidence where that evidence presents a double-edged sword.').

The mitigating evidence at issue would likely have proved more harmful than helpful. There was ample evidence in the record to impeach Jones's mental health mitigation. The only psychological diagnosis the experts could agree upon was that Jones suffered from antisocial personality disorder. Moreover, every other mental health evaluation Jones underwent confirms that he suffers not from mental illness but antisocial personality disorder. This Court has acknowledged that antisocial personality disorder 'is a trait most jurors tend to look disfavorably upon.' *Freeman v. State*, 858 So.2d 319, 327 (Fla. 2003).

Additionally, the only mental evaluations Jones underwent before the murder and before the accident in which he suffered brain injury indicate that he did not suffer from mental illness. The Department of Corrections evaluated Jones's mental status in 1978. At that time, chief psychiatrist Laura Parado and psychiatrist Eduardo Infante both opined that Jones did not suffer from mental illness. The doctors

described him as well-oriented, well-developed, and well-nourished. He exhibited well-organized speech patterns, no evidence of thought disorders, and no hallucinations. Jones scored in the upper average range of intelligence on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. Also, Jones's mental health records are replete with his own admissions that he did not suffer from mental illness or the accompanying symptoms.

Moreover, while there was clearly mental health mitigation available, damaging evidence accompanied it. For example, at the evidentiary hearing the State's expert, reading from various treatises, profiled a defendant with mental health scores similar to Jones. Those sharing Jones's profile demonstrated characteristics frequently found in child molesters and rapists. Their behavior is unpredictable and erratic and may involve strange sexual obsessions and responses. These individuals are typically aggressive, cold, and punitive and have a knack of inspiring guilt and anxiety in others. The State would certainly have seized the opportunity to expose these negative characteristics in addition to highlighting Jones's lengthy criminal history. Such a showing would not have proved favorable to Jones.

Further, in recommending death, the trial court found three aggravating factors: (1) prior violent felony; (2) commission during the course of a robbery; and (3) HAC. In mitigation the court found: (1) Jones's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform this conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired; (2) Jones has suffered from a traumatic and difficult childhood; and (3) Jones had the love and support of his family. Thus, in light of the significant aggravation, Jones has not demonstrated how the enhanced mitigation would create a probability sufficient to undermine our confidence in the outcome. See Singleton v. State, 783 So.2d 970 (Fla. 2001) (upholding a death sentence where the trial court found the prior violent felony and HAC aggravating factors and substantial mitigation, including extreme mental or emotional disturbance, impaired capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct or to conform conduct to requirements of law, age of sixtynine at time of offense, under the influence of alcohol and possibly medication at time of offense, mild dementia, and attempted suicide); Spencer v. State, 691 So.2d 1062, 1066 (Fla. 1996) (affirming a death sentence where the trial court found the prior violent felony and HAC aggravating factors and the mitigation included extreme mental or emotional disturbance; impaired capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct or to conform conduct to requirements of law; drug and alcohol abuse; paranoid personality disorder; sexual abuse; honorable military record; good employment record; and ability to function in structured environment); see also Offord v. State, 959 So.2d 187, 191 (Fla.2007) ('HAC is a weighty aggravator that has been described by this Court as one of the most serious in the statutory sentencing scheme.'); Sireci v. Moore, 825 So.2d 882, 887-88 (Fla. 2002) (noting

that prior violent felony conviction and HAC aggravators are 'two of the most weighty in Florida's sentencing calculus.').

Because Jones could not demonstrate prejudice, we affirm the trial court's denial of this claim.

Jones, 998 So.2d at 584-86.

In conclusion, <u>Porter</u> is not new fundamental law -- indeed, it is not new law at all -- and therefore the exception to the time limitation for a new "fundamental constitutional right" does not apply. The 2010 Successive Motion was untimely. Indeed, this Court's 2008 analysis more than met even Jones' incorrect reading of Porter.

3. The law of the case controls this claim (See Order, PC3/1 155).

The claim of ineffectiveness raised in the successive 3.851 motion and in this appellate claim is barred by the law of the case doctrine in which questions of law actually decided on appeal govern the case through all subsequent stages of the proceedings. <u>See Florida Dep't of Transp. v.</u> <u>Juliano</u>, 801 So.2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001). A defendant cannot relitigate claims that have been denied by the trial court where that denial has been affirmed by an appellate court. <u>See State v. McBride</u>, 848 So.2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003)(reasoning that the law of the case doctrine applies to post-conviction motions)(<u>citing Kelly v. State</u>, 739 So.2d 1164, 1164 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)). <u>Cf. Topps v. State</u>, 865 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(res judicata).

Jones' initial postconviction motion alleged IAC in the penalty/sentencing phase, the trial court rejected the claim after an

evidentiary hearing, and this Court affirmed in <u>Jones</u>, 998 So.2d 573. Jones is improperly seeking to re-litigate the same claim⁷ of ineffectiveness.

Here, the trial court correctly ruled that because the IAC penalty phase claim "has been previously litigated and addressed" by the trial court and this Court, "the motion is also denied as successive and procedurally barred." Accordingly, Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123, 1129 (Fla. 2009), held that "Marek's argument is procedurally barred because he previously litigated this issue." In Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123 (Fla. 2009), the defendant filed a successive post-conviction motion attempting to re-litigate the same claim of ineffectiveness that he had raised in the initial post-conviction motion. The trial court summarily denied the successive motion. On appeal, Marek asserted that his previously raised claim of ineffectiveness for failing to investigate mitigation should be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S.Ct. 1495, 146 L.Ed.2d 389 (2000). Marek argued that these cases modified the Strickland standard for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Marek, 8 So.3d at 1126. This Court concluded that the previously raised claim of ineffectiveness should not be reevaluated

 $^{^{7}}$ As noted above, to the degree that Jones claims any new facts, any such new facts remain time-barred because no due-diligence or reason is alleged, making those allegations facially insufficient under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(d)(2)(A) and 3.851(e)(2)(B),(C).

because "contrary to Marek's argument, the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under *Strickland*." <u>Marek</u>, 8 So.3d at 1128. <u>Marek</u>, 8 So.3d at 1128-29, discussed how <u>Rompilla</u>, <u>Wiggins</u>, and <u>Williams</u> were applications of Strickland.

Applying <u>Marek</u>'s rationale, here <u>Porter</u>, like <u>Rompilla</u>, <u>Wiggins</u>, and <u>Williams</u>, is an application of <u>Strickland</u> to the particular case, not a new method of analysis or otherwise new law. Here, like in <u>Marek</u>, the defendant is not entitled to relitigate the previously denied claim. Here, the purportedly Porter-based claim is barred by the law of the case doctrine.

Here, Jones has had his day in court to present his IAC-at-the-penaltyphase claim in 1997 to 2004, and he lost that claim, which remains the binding law of the case and thereby required the trial court to summarily denial the 2010 Successive Motion. The trial court's decision merits affirmance.

4. Even if this claim were erroneously considered on the merits, it has none.

As a preliminary but important matter, the State objects to Jones' factual assertions in his argument. Neither Jones' argument section (IB 45-52) nor Jones' facts section (IB 20-24) provides any citations to the 2004 postconviction evidentiary hearing (PC/12; PC/13; PC/14) or any other specific citations purportedly supporting Jones' factual assertions. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Fla.R.App.P. 9.210(b)(3)("References to the appropriate volume and pages of the record or transcript <u>shall be</u> made"); <u>R.E. v. Department of</u> Children and Families, 996 So.2d 929, 930 n.1 and accompanying text (Fla.

4th DCA 2008) (no citations to the record; DCA would have struck brief, but review was expedited and DCA could rely upon Appellee's facts); Greenfield v. Westmoreland, 2007 WL 518637, *1 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007)(unpublished; struck initial brief; "Citations to the record are inadequate throughout the brief"; "At one point, appellant's 'statement of facts' includes a threepage recitation of purported occurrences in an apparently disputed real estate development matter without a single record citation"; citing Davis v. Sails, 306 So.2d 615 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) (struck Davis' initial brief for failure to cite to record in accordance with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.120(b)(3)); Williams v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 548 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)(multiple violations of Rules; "appellant uses three pages to summarize the testimony he gave at trial. There is not one reference to the record throughout those three pages"; requiring "pinpoint citations to the record on appeal to substantiate each statement made in the brief").⁸ On the other hand, under the particular circumstances of this case and in order to resolve, without further delay, Jones' main appellate point, that is, that Porter requires re-litigation of Jones' IAC penalty

⁸ Thus, a party should not be required to comb the record to attempt to find where the record might support each of the opponent's "fact" and then evaluate whether to rebut the party's own guess.

Indeed, as noted supra, to the degree that Jones asserts any fact that was not proved in the 2004 evidentiary hearing, he must justify why each such new alleged fact was not timely submitted within the 1997-2004 postconviction proceedings. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(d)(2)(A)(showing of due diligence required); 3.851(e)(2)(successive motion must include reason why the claim was not raised earlier; newly discovered evidence must be tendered with witnesses' names,..., evidentiary support, why witness or document not previously available).

phase claim, the State does not object to this Court considering as Jones' facts those IAC-penalty-related facts that this Court discussed at <u>Jones</u>, 998 So.2d at 583-87, block-quoted supra. <u>Cf. Kokal v. Secretary, Dept. of</u> <u>Corrections</u>, 623 F.3d 1331, 1344 (11th Cir. 2010)("We review the highest state court decision reaching the merits of the petitioner's claim"; "state court's factual findings are presumed correct unless rebutted by the petitioner with clear and convincing evidence"; "'This presumption of correctness applies equally to factual determinations made by state trial and appellate courts''; <u>citing</u> 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1); <u>Bui v. Haley</u>, 321 F.3d 1304, 1312 (11th Cir. 2003); <u>Summer v. Mata</u>, 449 U.S. 539, 547, 101 S.Ct. 764, 66 L.Ed.2d 722 (1981)); <u>Dill v. Allen</u>, 488 F.3d 1344, 1354 (11th Cir. 2007)("presumption of correctness applies both to findings of fact made by the state trial court as well as the state appellate court").

Here, even if the Rules' timeliness requirement were erroneously ignored by re-evaluating the evidence at the 2004 evidentiary hearing, the IAC penalty phase claim would still have no merit for the same reasons in this Court's 2008 analysis of <u>Strickland</u>'s prejudice prong,⁹ reported at Jones, 998 So.2d at 583-87, block-quoted supra.

The State elaborates on the record supporting this court's finding of no Strickland prejudice concerning the IAC penalty phase claim.

⁹ The State respectfully disagrees with the Court's finding of deficiency concerning the mental health expert, but this finding is now also law of the case. However, because Jones must demonstrate both of <u>Strickland</u>'s prong, Jones' continued failure to demonstrate prejudice remains fatal to Jones' IAC penalty phase claim.

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